
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 

Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor    City Attorney 
Felicia M. Harris, Mayor Pro Tem  Brian D. Corry 
John A. Cason III, Commissioner 
Julie T. Martin, Commissioner         City Manager 
Vincent T. Williams, Commissioner      Regina M. McDuffie 

1 

BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 4, 2021 AT 5:00 P.M. 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
UPDATE 
1. Jim Ritchey with Whitman, Requardt & Associates, LLP to Provide a PowerPoint Presentation on

Progress of Transit Program Update. (Enc. 1)
APPOINTMENT 
2. Board (N. Atkinson)

I. Tree Board – One Appointment
ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED FOR APPROVAL 
3. Consider Approval of July 21, 2021 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary

changes.) (N. Atkinson) (Enc. 2)
4. Consider Approval of Financial Reports as of June 30, 2021.  (K. Mills) (Enc. 3)
5. Consider Approval of Renewal of Additional Flood Insurance.  (L. Velie) (Enc. 4)
6. Consider Approval of Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Congregate Meals & Adult Day Care Services Contract.

(R. McDuffie) (Enc. 5)
7. Consider Approval of Glynn-Brunswick 911 Services Agreement for External Entities.  (R. Mobley)

(Enc. 6)
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
8. Consider Approval of the Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Oglethorpe Conference

Center Memorandum of Understanding.  (Enc. 7)
9. Consider Approval Submitting Comments in Response to the Georgia Department of Transportation

Proposed Rule 672-11-04.
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT: Transit Program Update 

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:             August 4, 2021 

PURPOSE: Provide an informational update to the City Commission on the development 
of a public transit program for the City of Brunswick.  

HISTORY: Staff has been working with consultants from WRA since November 2020 to 
develop and plan for a public transit system for Brunswick.  Jim Ritchey with WRA will provide 
a PowerPoint presentation to update the City Commission on progress. 

FACTS AND ISSUES: 

BUDGET INFORMATION:  N/A 

 

OPTIONS: 

 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

- Informational update only 

DEPARTMENT: PDC  

Prepared by: John Hunter, Director 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

 

________________________________    ________________________ 

City Manager                                                                                      Date                              



OFFICIAL MINUTES 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, JULY 21, 2021 

OLD CITY HALL 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2ND FLOOR 

 
PRESENT:   Honorable Mayor Cornell Harvey, Mayor Pro-Tem Felicia Harris, Commissioner  
                       John Cason III, Commissioner Julie Martin, and Commissioner Vincent Williams                
                                  (~via zoom) 

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Cornell Harvey - meeting began at 6:03 p.m. 
INVOCATION:  Mayor Pro Tem Harris 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Recited by all in attendance 

 
ADDENDUM TO AGENDA 

** 
Commissioner Martin made a motion to add as item number five~a (5a) “Consider Approval of 
Resolution No. 2021-11 ~ Moratorium on the Acceptance and Approval of Permits for Off-Premises or 
Billboard Signs.”; seconded by Commissioner Williams.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0.  

** 
Commissioner Martin made a motion to add as items number four~a (4a) and four~b (4b) - 4a 
“Consider Approval of Contract Amendments with Lone Wolf Resources for T Street Landfill 
Construction Activities.”; and 4b - “Consider Approval of Subrecipient Agreement Amendment to 
Increase Community Development Block Grant – Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) Award for the 
Homeowner Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Program.”; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  
Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 

** 
 

PUBLIC HEARING - ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE – (New)  
1. Consider Approval - New Alcohol Beverage License: – (R. Monday) 

Name of Business Owner/Mgr. Location of 
Business Comments 

Lucky 7 Ankur Patel/ Owner  3021 Altama Ave. Retail sale of beer and wine. 

    Mayor Harvey opened the floor to anyone wanting to speak in favor or opposition of the above- 
    referenced license. 
 
    No one came forth to address the commission. 
 
    Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced alcohol license; seconded  
    by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
PUBLIC HEARING – LAND USE 
2. Rezoning Petition No. 21-01 from Peter Schoenauer, Representing the Owner, is Petitioning to  
    Rezone St. Francis Xavier Multiple Lots at Howe Street and Grant Street from General Residential  
    Core (GR-CORE) to General Commercial Core (GC-CORE).  (J. Hunter) 



2 
 

    Director of Planning, Development and Codes John Hunter gave overview of the above-referenced   
    petition.  He stated staff recommended approval of the rezoning and the Planning and Appeals  
    Commission recommended approval as well, with the following stipulations limiting the allowed    
    uses to the following uses from the General Commercial section: 

- Any use permitted in any GR residential district, in compliance with the provisions of 
section 23-6-2 unless otherwise set forth herein; 
- Retail, wholesale or storage business involving the sale of merchandise on the 
premises, except those uses which involve open yard storage of junk, salvage, used auto 
parts or building materials. Open storage shall be permitted under conditions set forth in 
section 23-9-3(g); 
- Business involving the rendering of a personal service, other than an automobile 
laundry or an automobile repair garage, which shall be permitted under conditions set 
forth in section 23-9-3(b) and (e); 
- Church; 
- Office building and/or office for governmental, business, professional or general 
purposes. 

   
    Mayor Harvey opened the floor to anyone wanting to speak in favor or opposition of the above- 
    referenced petition. 
 
    No one came forth to address the commission. 
 
    Commissioner Martin made a motion to approve the above-referenced petition with the       
    aforementioned stipulations; seconded by Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously by  
    a vote of 5 to 0. 
APPOINTMENT(S)  
3. Agency and Commission (N. Atkinson)   

1) Urban Redevelopment Agency – One Appointment - (Mayor’s Appointment) 
Mayor Harvey appointed Kelly Hnatt to the above-referenced agency filling the expired 
term of Haresh Patel until July 21, 2024. 

2) Planning and Appeals Commission – One Appointment - (alternate member) 
Commissioner Williams made a motion to appoint Anita Collins as an alternate member 
of the above-subject commission; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed 
unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 

ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED FOR APPROVAL 
4. Consider Approval of July 7, 2021 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes.  (subject to any necessary  
    changes.) (N. Atkinson)  
    Commissioner Cason made a motion to approve the above-referenced minutes; seconded by  
    Commissioner Williams. 
    Commissioner Martin noted that her wifi was down after item number seven (7) and she was not  
    present to vote. 
    City Clerk Atkinson to correct motion tallies after item number seven (7) of the above-referenced  
    meeting minutes.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0.  
4a Consider Approval of Contract Amendments with Lone Wolf Resources for T Street Landfill  
    Construction Activities. 
    Commissioner Martin made a motion to approve the contract amendment with Lone Wolf  
    Resources in the amount of $383,567.86 for additional construction activities related to the T  



3 
 

    Street Landfill Closure project; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously  
    by a vote of 5 to 0. 
4b Consider Approval of Subrecipient Agreement Amendment to Increase Community Development  
    Block Grant – Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) Award for the Homeowner Rehabilitation and      
    Reconstruction Program. (R. McDuffie/R. George) 
    Commissioner Martin made a motion to approve the above-referenced amendment increasing  
    CDBG-DR award for the Homeowner Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Program (HRRP) from  
    $300,000 to $578,593; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously  
    by a vote of 5 to 0. 
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
5. Consider Adoption of Ordinance No. 1072 – Amendment to Article XXIII of the Zoning Code  
    Chapter 3, Section 21, “Buffer Requirements”.  (J. Hunter) 
    This being the second reading and public hearing held on June 2, 2021; Commissioner Cason  
    made a motion to adopt the above-subject ordinance; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion  
    passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
EXECUTIVE SESSION  
Commissioner Cason made a motion to adjourn into executive session to discuss litigation; seconded 
by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
RECONVENE FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION  
Mayor Harvey announced no action was taken. 
5a  Consider Approval of Resolution No. 2021-11 ~ Moratorium on the Acceptance and Approval of  
    Permits for Off-Premises or Billboard Signs.  
    Commissioner Martin made a motion to approve the above-subject resolution; seconded by  
    Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0. 
 
Commissioner Martin made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harris.  Motion 
passed unanimously by a vote of 5 to 0.        
 

MEETING ADJOURNED – meeting adjourned at 7:54 p.m. 
 
        /s/Cornell L. Harvey   
        Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor  
         
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson   
            Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 

























































































































GLYNN-BRUNSWICK 911 
SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR EXTERNAL ENTITIES 

 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this   day of   _____, 

2021, by and between THE JEKYLL ISLAND-STATE PARK AUTHORITY (hereinafter 

referred to as the “JIA”) and GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of 

the State of Georgia, by and through its Board of Commissioners (hereinafter referred to 

as the “County”).   

W I T N E S S E T H: 

 WHEREAS, Glynn County, Georgia, and the City of Brunswick have established 

the Joint Public Safety Communications Department (hereinafter referred to as the 

“JPSCD”) and the JPSCD Oversight Committee by entering into an Agreement for a Joint 

Public Safety Communications Department (hereinafter the “JPSCD Agreement”); and  

WHEREAS, the JPSCD provides radio coverage for police, fire and EMS services, 

as well as for other public and/or private entities whose services provide a benefit to the 

citizens of Glynn County and the City of Brunswick; and 

WHEREAS, the JPSCD utilizes the JPSCD Public Safety Communications System 

(hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “System” or the “800 MHz System”) to provide 

the radio coverage contemplated herein; and  

WHEREAS, the JPSCD and the JPSCD Oversight Committee oversee the 

emergency 911 communications center (hereinafter the “E-911 Center”) serving Glynn 

County and the City of Brunswick; and 

 WHEREAS permanent records of calls and events will continue to be recorded 

and maintained by the JPSCD utilizing Computer Aided Dispatch (hereinafter “CAD”); 

and 

 WHEREAS, the JIA desires to contract with the County for dispatch and call-

taking services as outlined in this Services Agreement as recommended by the JPSCD 

Oversight Committee, with such services to be provided by JPSCD to JIA 24 hours a day, 

7 days a week, 365 days a year;  

WHEREAS, the County desires to enter into an agreement for JPSCD to provide 

JIA with dispatch and call-taking services as outlined in this Agreement.  



2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual covenants contained  

herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto do mutually  

agree as follows:  

A.  JIA AGREES: 

1.  JIA shall be responsible for the cost of acquiring, maintaining, replacing, 

and programming its own radio equipment and any equipment necessary to operate on 

the JPSCD’s 800 MHz System.  JIA’s purchase of radio equipment must first be approved 

by Motorola, Inc., the County’s radio system engineer, and the JPSCD prior to the 

purchase of said equipment.  The JPSCD must approve of the radios, related radio 

equipment, and radio call signs to be used by JIA before JIA may use them.   

2.   JIA’s use of the System will not result in any additional equipment costs to 

the JPSCD, the City of Brunswick, or the County. 

3.   Programming, servicing, and/or repairing of the radios and equipment 

used by JIA shall, upon the request of and at the expense of JIA, be performed by JPSCD 

personnel or vendors authorized by JPSCD and in a manner approved by JPSCD.  

4.   There shall be no more than thirteen (13) radio units of JIA connected to the 

System, unless additional units are approved pursuant to this paragraph.  These units 

shall include only those radios set forth in Exhibit “A”, which is attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference, or replacements of those radios as permitted in 

Paragraph A.5. below.  Any request to add additional radios and/or equipment by JIA 

must be submitted in writing to the Glynn-Brunswick 911 Center Director and is subject 

to the approval of the JPSCD, prior to the addition of such radios and/or equipment to 

the System.  If the JPSCD approves the addition of radios and/or equipment, the formula 

in the JPSCD Agreement’s Appendix “D”, Operating Cost Allocation, attached hereto as 

Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein by reference, shall determine the cost for said 

additional services.  All costs for additional services shall be paid as pursuant to 

Paragraph A.7. below. 

5.   JIA shall submit a list of the serial numbers for all radios utilizing the 

services set forth herein and shall notify the JPSCD if there are any changes in JIA’s radio 



3 
 

inventory, including but not limited to equipment that is out of service due to extensive 

damage or upgrade. 

6. JIA agrees to abide by all Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) 

promulgated rules and regulations regarding public safety radio transmissions as set 

forth in the FCC licenses. 

7.   In accordance with Appendix D, Operating Costs Allocation, attached 

hereto as Exhibit “B”, JIA shall pay to the County an Operating Cost Fee for the services 

provided under this Agreement.  The Operating Cost Fee for JIA shall be its proportion 

of the JPSCD’s annual cost based on the number of radios supported under the System 

used by JIA, as calculated through the equation established in Exhibit “B”.  JIA shall pay 

said Operating Cost Fee in quarterly installments, with each installment being due and 

payable within thirty (30) days of the date of the invoice provided by the County.  

Payments shall be made payable to the Glynn County Board of Commissioners and 

forwarded to: 

Glynn County Finance Department 
1725 Reynolds Street, 3rd Floor 

Brunswick, Georgia 31520 

Failure to pay within ten (10) days of late notice may result in cancellation of the service 

and immediate termination of this Agreement by the County for cause.  Said payments 

will be distributed by the County in accordance with Section IV., titled “Finance”, of the 

JPSCD Agreement. 

8.  Should interference or problems arise because of JIA’s use of the JPSCD’s 800 

MHz System, JIA shall be required to discontinue or modify its use of the System.  Such 

discontinuance or modification shall be done immediately after notification by the JPSCD 

of interference or system problems.  If JIA fails to rectify the problem within one (1) hour 

of notification, the JPSCD may discontinue or modify JIA’s use of the System.   

B.  THE COUNTY AGREES: 

 Upon qualification of JIA for the services as outlined in Section A above, Glynn 

County shall provide JIA with the police dispatch and call-taking services of the JPSCD 



4 
 

E-911 Center and shall use its best efforts to provide the communications capacity needed 

for the services outlined herein. 

C. IT IS FURTHER AGREED BY THE PARTIES:  

 1.   AMENDMENTS.  No change, alteration or amendment of this Agreement 

may be made except by the written consent of both parties. 

2.   TERM AND TERMINATION.  The term of this Agreement shall commence 

on September 1, 2021, and shall terminate on June 30, 2022.  This Agreement may be 

terminated by either party without cause upon one hundred eighty (180) days prior 

written notice to all other parties.   

3. NOTICES.  To provide for consistent and effective communication between 

the parties, each party shall appoint a principal representative to serve as its central point 

of contact on matters relating to this Agreement.  The principal representatives for this 

Agreement are listed below. 

As to Glynn County: 
Cara Richardson, CMCP 
Director, Glynn-Brunswick E911 Communications Center 
157 Carl Alexander Way 
Brunswick, Georgia 31525 
Phone Number: (912) 279-2913 
Facsimile: (912) 554-7878 

 
As to JIA: 
Dennis Gailey, Director of Public Safety 
Jekyll Island Authority 
100 James Road 
Jekyll Island, Georgia 31527 
Phone Number: 912-635-4000 
 

4.  REFUNDS. Should this Agreement be terminated for cause by the County, 

no refunds of the operational fees or any other payments will be made to JIA.   

5.  TOTALITY OF AGREEMENT. This Agreement constitutes the final and 

complete agreement and understanding between the parties regarding the subject matter 

hereof.  All prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, whether oral or 

written, are to be without effect in the construction of any provisions or term of this 



5 
 

Agreement if they alter, vary, or contradict this Agreement.  No assignment or transfer 

of this Agreement or any right accruing hereunder shall be made in whole or in part by 

JIA without the express written consent of the County. 

6.  LEGALITY OF AGREEMENT. Should any term, provision or other part of 

this Agreement be declared illegal or unenforceable, it shall be excised or modified to 

conform to the appropriate law or regulations, and the remainder of this Agreement shall 

not be affected but shall remain in full force and effect.  A waiver by either party of any 

breach of the provisions hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of any succeeding breach of 

such provision or any other provision of this Agreement. 

7. APPLICABLE LAW. Notwithstanding statutory exemptions or exclusions, 

JIA agrees to subject itself to the jurisdiction and process of the Courts of the State of 

Georgia as to all matters and disputes arising or to arise under this Agreement and the 

performance therefore, including all issues relating to liability for taxes, licenses or fees 

levied by the State.  JIA irrevocably consents that any legal action or proceeding against 

it under, arising out of or in any manner relating to this Agreement, shall be brought in a 

Georgia court, and the laws of the State of Georgia shall govern this Agreement.   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement under 

their respective seals as of the date written above in two (2) counterparts, each of which 

shall without proof or accounting for the other counterparts be deemed an original of this 

Agreement.  

 

 

(Signatures on the following page) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

 
GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA: 

 
 
 
       Attest: 
WAYNE NEAL, CHAIRMAN    
GLYNN COUNTY BOARD OF           
COMMISSIONERS     COUNTY CLERK 
 
Date__________________________    (Seal)  
 
 
 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA: 
 
 
 
       Attest: 
CORNELL L. HARVEY, MAYOR 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA         
 
         (Seal)  
Date__________________________ 
 
 
 
THE JEKYLL ISLAND AUTHORITY: 
 
 
 
       Attest:     ______ 
JONES HOOKS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
THE JEKYLL ISLAND-STATE PARK AUTHORITY     
        
Date__________________________     (Seal)  
       



 
 
 
 

 
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE  

AMENDED AND RESTATED  
OGLETHORPE CONFERENCE CENTER  
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  

 
 

by and between 
 
 

THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
 
 

and 
 
 

GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated as of _______________________, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE  
AMENDED AND RESTATED  

OGLETHORPE CONFERENCE CENTER  
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BY AND BETWEEN  
THE CITY OF BRUNSWICK  

AND  
GLYNN COUNTY 

 
THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 

OGLETHORPE CONFERENCE CENTER MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
(hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “Second Amendment”) is made and entered into as of 
_________________________, 2021, (the “Effective Date”), by and between the CITY OF 
BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA, a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia, acting by and 
through its duly elected Mayor and Board of Commissioners (hereinafter referred to as “City”) 
and GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State to Georgia, acting by 
and through its duly elected Board of Commissioners (hereinafter referred to as the “County”), 
and amends that certain Amended and Restated Oglethorpe Conference Center Memorandum of 
Understanding, dated April 7, 2016, as amended on December 30, 2019, by and between the City 
and County (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “2016 Oglethorpe MOU”).    
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, on both September 18, 2001, and November 8, 2005, the qualified voters of 
Glynn County and the City of Brunswick approved the imposition of a Special Purpose Local 
Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) in the special district of Glynn County, which SPLOSTs are 
commonly known as SPLOST IV and SPLOST V respectively;   
 

WHEREAS, SPLOST IV and SPLOST V contained funding for various capital outlay 
projects, including the “Oglethorpe Convention Center”, also known and sometimes referred to as 
the “Oglethorpe Conference Center” (hereinafter the “Oglethorpe Center”);   

 
WHEREAS, in 2001, the City and County entered into a “SPLOST IV Agreement” which 

addressed, among other things, the Oglethorpe Center; and, in 2003, the City and County entered 
into an “Oglethorpe Conference Center Memorandum of Understanding” (hereinafter sometimes 
the “2003 Oglethorpe MOU”), which also addressed the understanding between the parties 
pertaining to the Oglethorpe Center; 

  
WHEREAS, on April 7, 2016, the City and County entered into an Amended and Restated 

Oglethorpe Conference Center Memorandum of Understanding (hereinafter sometimes referred to 
as the “2016 Oglethorpe MOU”), which amended, restated, and superseded the 2003 Oglethorpe 
MOU in its entirety, and set forth, among other things, the understandings and stipulations between 
the parties regarding the construction of the Oglethorpe Conference Center, including provisions 
on the project timeline and location;    

 
WHEREAS, after various project expenditures, consisting primarily of planning, design 

and demolition costs expended in pursuit of completing the Oglethorpe Center, approximately 



  
 

$1,300,441 of the $2,000,000 originally budgeted and collected by the County under SPLOST IV 
for the Oglethorpe Center remains in the SPLOST IV account held by Glynn County for such 
project; and, approximately $1,204,051 of the $1,500,000 originally budgeted and collected by the 
City under SPLOST V for the Oglethorpe Center remains in the SPLOST V account held by the 
City of Brunswick for such project (such funds hereinafter sometimes collectively referred to as 
the “remaining Oglethorpe Center project proceeds”); 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the 2016 Oglethorpe MOU, the County conveyed certain real 

property to the City (hereinafter the “Oglethorpe Property”) at no cost for the specific purpose of 
constructing, maintaining, and operating the Oglethorpe Conference Center on such property;   

 
WHEREAS, the 2016 Oglethorpe MOU, as amended on December 30, 2020, provides 

that the City will substantially complete the Oglethorpe Center on the Oglethorpe Property by 
April 7, 2022, or alternatively, that the City would pay the County the fair market value of the 
Oglethorpe Property if it was not substantially completed on the Oglethorpe Property by such date;     

 
WHEREAS, by joint resolution adopted by both the City and County in January, 2021, 

the City and County declared the Oglethorpe Center to be infeasible, as defined by O.C.G.A. § 48-
8-123, and called for a special election to be held on March 16, 2021, for the purpose of submitting 
to the voters of Glynn County the question of whether the Oglethorpe Center project could be 
modified to authorize the use of the remaining Oglethorpe Center project proceeds for the purpose 
of reducing ad valorem taxes of the County and City (the “modified purpose”); 

 
WHEREAS, on March 16, 2021, the voters of Glynn County approved a modified purpose 

for the remaining Oglethorpe Center project proceeds; 
 
WHEREAS, the City and County hereby desire to further amend 2016 Oglethorpe MOU, 

as amended, and update the terms thereof to reflect and implement the voter approved modified 
purpose for the remaining Oglethorpe Center project proceeds, it being to the mutual benefit of 
both parties to do so;   

  
NOW THEREFORE, incorporating the foregoing recitals and in consideration of the 

mutual promises contained herein and other good and valuable considerations, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and for the public purposes herein contained and 
provided for, the City and County, acting through their respective Boards of Commissioners, do 
hereby agree to further amend the 2016 Oglethorpe Memorandum of Understanding between them, 
as previously amended on December 20, 2020, as follows: 
 

(1) Infeasibility / Project Modification.  The City and County hereby reaffirm their 
findings and determinations that the Oglethorpe Conference Center has become infeasible, as 
defined by O.C.G.A. § 48-8-123, insofar as it has, in the judgment of both governing authorities, 
become impracticable, unrealistic, and otherwise not in the best interests of the citizens of Glynn 
County.  The Oglethorpe Conference Center project shall be modified, as approved by the voters 
of Glynn County in the special election held for such purpose on March 16, 2021, so that the 
remaining Oglethorpe Center project proceeds are used for the modified purpose of reducing ad 
valorem taxes of the County and City. 

  



  
 

(2) Oglethorpe Center Project. Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 48-8-123 and the voter 
referendum held on March 16, 2021, the parties agree that neither the City nor the County shall be 
obligated or required to construct or operate the Oglethorpe Center project as approved by the 
voters under SPLOST IV and SPLOST V, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in 
the SPLOST IV Agreement, the 2003 Oglethorpe Agreement, and/or the 2016 Oglethorpe 
Agreement, as amended.  The City and County hereby release each other from any and all further 
obligations or promises to the other party to construct or maintain the Oglethorpe Center, or to 
fund the construction or maintenance thereof.     

 
(3)  Remaining Project Proceeds. The City and County agree and stipulate that the 

Oglethorpe Center is a joint project, as such term is used under O.C.G.A. § 48-8-123, and that the 
remaining Oglethorpe Center project proceeds should be divided between the City and County as 
set forth herein.  Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 48-8-123(c), the City and County agree that the remaining 
project proceeds in the approximate aggregate amount of $2,504,492 shall be divided between the 
City and County as follows:  

 
(a) the City shall retain and receive, as its share of the remaining project 

proceeds, the remaining approximately $1,204,051 that is currently being held in the City’s 
SPLOST V account for the Oglethorpe Center.  The City shall pay the entirety of its share 
of the remaining proceeds into the City’s general fund be used for the purpose of reducing 
ad valorem taxes of the City; and  

 
(b) the County shall retain and receive, as its share of the remaining project 

proceeds, the remaining approximately $1,300,441 that is currently being held in the 
County’s SPLOST IV account for the Oglethorpe Center.  The County shall pay the entirety 
of its share of the remaining proceeds into the County’s general fund be used for the 
purpose of reducing ad valorem taxes of the County. 

 
(4) Oglethorpe Property / Winchester Building Site.  
 

(a) It remains the intent, understanding, and agreement of the parties hereto that 
the City pay the County the fair market value of the “former Winchester Building Site” 
(a/k/a the “Oglethorpe Property”) located at 1609 Newcastle Street, Brunswick, Georgia, 
between Newcastle and Bay Streets, and having Parcel Number 01-02011.  Said Property 
(hereinafter referred to as the “former Winchester Building Site” or the “Property”) is the 
same property that was previously conveyed in 2016 by the County to the City at no cost 
by Quitclaim Deed recorded at Deed Book 3570, Page 382, Glynn County records, for the 
specific purpose of constructing, maintaining, and operating the Oglethorpe Conference 
Center on such property, pursuant to the terms of the 2016 Oglethorpe MOU, as amended. 

 
(b) The City’s obligation to pay the County the fair market value of the former 

Winchester Building site pursuant to the process set forth in Paragraph 2(b) of the 2016 
Oglethorpe MOU, as amended, shall be stayed for a period of two (2) years (hereinafter 
the “two-year stay period”) from the Effective Date of this Second Amendment, or until 
the parties hereto otherwise agree in writing to an alternative method of adequately 
compensating the County for the Property, whichever comes first.   
 



  
 

(c) During said two-year stay period, the City intends to market the “former 
Winchester Building Site” and include it in plans, along with the City’s adjacent parcel, for 
redevelopment through appropriate development measures, which may include the City’s 
Urban Redevelopment Agency (“URA”).  The County consents to such marketing by the 
City, subject to the terms of this Second Amendment and the terms of the 2016 Oglethorpe 
MOU, as amended, generally. 

 
(d) At any time after the expiration of the two-year stay period, the County may 

submit its “demand” to the City for payment of fair market value for the “former 
Winchester Building Site” (as contemplated under Paragraph 2(b) ), which “demand” will 
initiate the general process and timeline for obtaining appraisal(s) and payment to the 
County as set forth in the 2016 Oglethorpe MOU, as amended, notwithstanding any 
language contained in said Paragraph 2(b) regarding such process being tied to the 
substantial completion, substantial completion deadline or date, or similar language 
regarding completion of the Oglethorpe Center.  Said two-year stay period may be 
extended upon the mutual written consent of both the City and County.  
 

(e) The City and County agree that no portion of the “former Winchester 
Building Site” (or any interest therein) shall be sold, assigned, conveyed, transferred, 
leased, or otherwise disposed of by the City (or any other party) until such time that the 
County receives payment of the fair market value of the Property from the City pursuant 
to the general process set forth in the 2016 Oglethorpe MOU, as amended, or the City and 
County otherwise agree in writing to an alternative method of adequately compensating 
the County for the Property, whichever comes first.     

  
 

(5) Effective Date. This Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Oglethorpe 
Conference Center Memorandum of Understanding by and between the City of Brunswick and 
Glynn County shall immediately become effective (the “Effective Date”) on the date that this 
Second Amendment is last executed by the City or County, as shown on the signature page hereof. 
 

(6) Execution of Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument.  

 
(7) Agreement Otherwise Unmodified. Except as specifically set forth and amended 

in this Second Amendment, the 2016 Oglethorpe Agreement, as amended, is otherwise unmodified 
and remains in full force and effect and is hereby ratified and reaffirmed. In the event of any 
inconsistencies between the 2016 Oglethorpe MOU, as amended, and this Second Amendment, 
the terms of this Second Amendment shall control and take precedence.   

 
(8) Recitals. The recitals set forth above in this Second Amendment are made a part of 

this Second Amendment and are incorporated herein by reference. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City of Brunswick, Georgia, and Glynn County, Georgia, 
intending to be legally bound hereby as of the Effective Date hereof, have caused this Second 
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Oglethorpe Conference Center Memorandum of 



  
 

Understanding by and between the City of Brunswick and Glynn County to be entered into and 
executed in their respective names and their respective official seals to be hereunto affixed and 
attested by their duly authorized officials. 
 
  
 Executed by Glynn County, Georgia this _____ day of _______________, 2021.   
 
      GLYNN COUNTY, GEORGIA: 
 
 
 (SEAL)      
      By: _________________________________ 
       Wayne Neal, Chairman 
       Glynn County Board of Commissioners 
      
 
 

Attest: ______________________________ 
       Dhwani Patel, County Clerk 

 
 
 
Executed by the City of Brunswick, Georgia, this _____ day of _______________, 2021.   

 
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, GEORGIA: 
 
 
 

(SEAL)       
By: _________________________________ 

       Cornell L. Harvey, Mayor 
       City of Brunswick 

 
 
 
Attest: ______________________________ 

       Naomi Atkinson, City Clerk 


	Agenda
	Encl. 1
	Encl. 2
	Encl. 3
	Encl. 4
	Encl. 5
	Encl. 6
	Encl. 7

